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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023 2022

Revenue £177.7 million £168.11 million

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation £21.95 million £16.13 million

Tax on profit on ordinary activities £4.56 million £2.52 million

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation £17.39 million £13.62 million

Basic earnings per ordinary share 162.9p 123.9p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 161.6p 123.0p 

First interim dividend paid 12.5p 12.5p

Second interim dividend payable 13.0p 12.5p

Final dividend payable 25.5p 24.0p

Total 51.0p 49.0p

Share price at 31 December £13.00 £12.60

In February 2024, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2022 - 12.5p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 4

March 2024, paid in March 2024. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 25.5p per share (2022 - 24.0p) will be paid to shareholders on the

register on 31 May 2024. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.62 million (2022 - £2.59 million). This dividend, together with the second interim

dividend, has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Insert graphs here

We are very pleased to report an admirable set of results for the 2023 financial year. This result reflects an improved aggregate contribution from the

Group’s various trading activities, plus a number of one-off items — the most significant being: an uplift of circa £8m in the value of the Shipserv

investment; a write down of circa £4.5m in the value of work in progress held on the Group’s balance sheet in respect of TheJudge; a goodwill impairment

charge totalling circa £2.5m following an assessment of the balance sheet value of i) TheJudge and ii) Osprey, an entity acquired several years ago which

now forms part of the UK Fixed Premium Marine business; plus a restructuring charge relating primarily to the Group’s Specialty Division.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Responsibilities of directors

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the non-statutory financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the non-statutory financial statements

does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

-  the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

Opinion

-  the consolidated cash flow statement; and

-  the related notes 1 to 35.

Report on the audit of the non-statutory financial statements

-  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

In preparing the non-statutory financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the non-statutory

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the non-statutory

financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact.

- have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 which would have applied if the financial statements were statutory

financial statements.

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of the group’s profit for the year then

ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRSIC”)

interpretations as adopted by the United Kingdom with respect to the consolidated financial statements, and, have been properly prepared in accordance

with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), issued by the Financial Reporting Council with respect to the parent company’s financial statements; and

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as issued by the IASB and the provisions of the

Companies Act 2006 that would have applied were these statutory financial statements.

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements which comprise:

Basis for opinion

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial

statements is appropriate. 

-  the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the non-statutory financial statements

and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

non-statutory financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial statements section of our report. 

Other information

-  the consolidated income statement;

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may

cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are

authorised for issue. 

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the non-statutory financial statements in

the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements of Thomas Miller Holdings Limited (the ‘company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’):

5



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD. (continued)

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports, and reviewing correspondence with HMRC.

     - In line with ISA 540 (Revised) we will performd a stand back test to assess the reasonableness of the estimates.

- enquiring of management, internal audit and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance

with laws and regulations; and

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined

above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting

irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and regulations that: 

- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud; 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these non-statutory financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

     - evaluated the design and implementation of a key management review control;

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies and procedures

relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management, internal audit and the directors about their own identification

and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to the group’s business sector.

- with reference to recent experience, challenged the sufficiency and appropriateness of the constraint applied to variable turnover where the outcome of

the contract is uncertain; and

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override. In

addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed

whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant

transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

- valuation of goodwill: 

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures performed to address them are

described below:

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions and IT regarding the opportunities and

incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

     - in line with ISA 540 (Revised), we performed a stand back test to assess the overall reasonableness of the assumptions 

- do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a

material penalty. 

- valuation of TheJudge Limited’s accrued income asset: 

     - assessed the reasonableness of assumptions used when calculating the value-in-use of the group’s cash generating units; and

- reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations

described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included UK and Bermuda Companies Act,

pensions legislation, tax legislation, and the UK Bribery Act; and

- evaluated the design and implementation of the control around the review of TheJudge accrued income calculation, including the key assumptions

used in the analysis;
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 3 177,704 168,113 

Administrative expenses (164,571) (152,315)

Group operating profit 13,133 15,798 

Income from fixed asset investments 9 7,739 - 

Profit on ordinary activities before interest and taxation 4 20,872 15,798 

Finance income 7 2,063 811 

Finance costs 8 (1,019) (807)

1,044 4 

Other gains and losses 9 - 273 

Share of operating profit of associates 17 34 59 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 21,950 16,134 

Income tax 10, 11 (4,562) (2,515)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 17,388 13,619 

Profit for the financial year 17,388 13,619 

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per ordinary share 14 162.9p 123.9p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 14 161.6p 123.0p 

The notes on pages 15 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

17,388 13,619 

30 (1,186) (16,535)

11 237 2,964 

(949) (13,571)

170 (172)

(779) (13,743)

16,609 (124)

The notes on pages 15 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Other comprehensive expense for the year net of income tax

Profit for the financial year

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss

All amounts derive from continuing operations unless otherwise stated.

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Group Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Own shares 

held by 

EBTs

2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000      £’000      £’000

1,390 2,617 74,977 20 (18,799) 60,204 

- - 17,388 - - 17,388 

- - 170 - - 170 

- - (949) - - (949)

- - 16,609 - - 16,609 

- - (5,526) - - (5,526)

(13) (1,675) - - - (1,688)

- - 724 - - 724 

- - 88 - - 88 

- - (3) - - (3)

- - - - (8,053) (8,053)

- - - - 1,472 1,472 

- - (763) - 763 0 

- - - - 1,029 1,029 

(13) (1,675) 11,129 - (4,788) 4,653 

1,377 942 86,106 20 (23,587) 64,858 

Group Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Own shares 

held by 

EBTs

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000      £’000      £’000

1,393 3,033 80,639 20 (15,217) 69,868 

- - 13,619 - - 13,619 

- - (172) - - (172)

- - (13,571) - - (13,571)

- - (124) - - (124)

- - (5,907) - - (5,907)

(3) (416) - - - (419)

- - 137 - - 137 

- - 14 - - 14 

- - 10 - - 10 

- - 335 - - 335 

- - - - (6,897) (6,897)

- - - - 1,816 1,816 

- - (127) - 127 0 

- - - - 1,372 1,372 

(3) (416) (5,662) - (3,582) (9,663)

1,390 2,617 74,977 20 (18,799) 60,204 

Total comprehensive income for the year

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Opening shareholders’ funds / (deficits)

Value of shares awarded to employees (note 25)

Proceeds on disposal of EBT shares 

Profit for the financial year 

Acquisition of own shares by EBTs (note 25)

Current tax on share based payment transactions

Actuarial loss relating to the pension deficit net of 

current and deferred tax

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders’ funds

Closing shareholders’ funds / (deficit) 

Equity settled share based (receipts) / payments

Net loss on shares awarded to employees

Dividends paid (note 13)

Purchase of own shares (note 23)

Closing shareholders’ funds / (deficit) 

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders’ funds

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2023

Currency translation differences on foreign currency 

net investments

Actuarial loss relating to the pension deficit net of 

current and deferred tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Deferred tax on share based payment transactions (note 20)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2022

Opening shareholders’ funds / (deficits)

Profit for the financial year 

Dividends paid (note 13)

Currency translation differences on foreign currency 

net investments

Purchase of own shares

Equity settled share based (receipts) / payments

Current tax on share based payment transactions

Deferred tax on share based payment transactions

Adjustment for prior period application of ASC842

Acquisition of own shares by EBTs (note 25)

Value of shares awarded to employees (note 25)

Net loss on shares awarded to employees

Proceeds on disposal of EBT shares 
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Company Share capital Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £'000

1,390 2,617 37,070 20 41,097 

Profit for the financial year - - 10,479 - 10,479 

Dividends paid - - (5,249) - (5,249)

- - - - - 

Purchase of own shares (13) (1,675) - - (1,688)

Equity settled share based payments - - 724 - 724 

(13) (1,675) 5,953 - 4,265 

1,377 942 43,023 20 45,362 

Company Share capital Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £'000

1,393 3,033 33,216 20 37,662 

Profit for the financial year - - 9,116 - 9,116 

Dividends paid - - (5,401) - (5,401)

- - 3 - 3 

Purchase of own shares (3) (416) - - (419)

Equity settled share based payments - - 137 - 137 

(3) (416) 3,854 - 3,435 

1,390 2,617 37,070 20 41,097 

The notes on pages 15 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Adjustment in respect of share records

Opening shareholders’ funds

The share premium account and capital redemption reserve are distributable reserves as stated in the Bermudian Companies Act 1981.

Closing shareholders’ funds 

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders' funds

Closing shareholders’ funds 

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders' funds

Opening shareholders’ funds

Adjustment in respect of share records

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2023

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2022

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

33 25,625 16,885 

Investing activities

1,944 863 

73 19 

133 193 

(14,514) (6,633)

(7) (27)

- 4 

(12,371) (5,581)

Financing activities

(5,526) (5,907)

(6,637) (3,865)

New secured loan 4,000 4,000 

(7,630) (6,429)

606 904 

(1,689) (416)

(16,876) (11,713)

(3,622) (409)

60,129 57,937 

269 2,601 

56,776 60,129 

The notes on pages 15 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Own shares purchased

Dividends from associates

Decrease / (increase) in current asset investments

Equity dividends paid

Repayment of lease liabilities

Proceeds from sales of fixed assets

Net cash from operating activities

Interest and other similar income received

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Net cash (used in) financing activities

Acquisition of own shares by the EBT

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Payments to acquire / transfers of tangible fixed assets

Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets

Proceeds from exercise of options
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1.  Accounting policies

The group is primarily engaged in mutual insurance management, insurance agency and services, and fund management.

The Thomas Miller group has performed a liquidity stress test for the 19 month period ending December 2025 which indicates headroom before any

mitigating actions. Taking account of these potential mitigating actions, this analysis demonstrates that the group could continue as a going concern for at

least the next year given the financial and liquidity strength of the insurance companies managed by Thomas Miller and the notice periods contained in the

contracts. Accordingly, Thomas Miller considers the results of this test continue to support the view that the group is able to continue as a going concern for

twelve months since the authorisation of these financial statements.

The group reported a profit before tax of £21.95 million for 2023 (2022 - £16.13 million) and had net cash inflows from operating activities of £25.63 million

(2022 - £16.89 million). The 2023 cash position included an additional cash outflow of £3.65 million (2022 - £3.84 million) - a payment into the Thomas

Miller & Co. defined benefit pension scheme. Note 28 to the financial statements includes the group's objectives, policies and processes for managing: its

capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The consolidated financial statements of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

("IFRS") and IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRS IC") interpretations as adopted by the United Kingdom and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to

companies reporting under IFRS. The company's financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with

Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

General information

1.2  Going concern

The company as a "qualifying entity" is exempt from producing a cash flow statement in accordance with FRS 102.1.12(b). 

The company is incorporated in Bermuda and registered as an overseas company in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office is given on

the back cover of this annual report. The principal activities of the company and its subsidiaries (the group) and the nature of the group’s operations are set

out in note 17. These financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the

group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 1.11. Thomas Miller Holdings Limited is the Group holding

company and the ultimate controlling entity of the Group.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom company law as applicable to overseas companies, as laid out in part 34

of the Companies Act 2006 and Statutory Instrument 2009 No. 1901 Companies - 'The Overseas Companies Regulations 2009'.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and certain financial assets

that have been measured at fair value.  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

1.1  Basis of preparation

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain material accounting estimates. It also requires management to

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 2. The particular accounting policies

adopted by the directors are described below.

The group has positive cash balances and net assets. The group also has long-term relationships with the majority of its significant customers. In addition,

the group has a revolving credit facility of £10 million of committed and £10 million of uncommitted financing from HSBC, which provides the group with

financial flexibility for both working capital needs and M&A growth.  The group has an overall surplus on its retirement benefit obligations.
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

-  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

1.2  Going concern (continued)

Changes in the group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the

group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between

the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and

attributed to the owners of the company.

-  the size of the company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

The company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future.  Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. 

If the group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of

the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),

less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that

subsidiary are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or

transferred to another category of equity as specified / permitted by the applicable IFRSs).  

-  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

1.3  Basis of consolidation

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the company loses control of the subsidiary.

Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the

company gains control until the date when the company ceases to control the subsidiary.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries) and are

made up to 31 December each year.  Control is achieved when the company:

As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully in the current economic environment. 

-  has the power over the investee;

-  is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and

-  potential voting rights held by the company, other vote holders or other parties;

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests. Total

comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the group are eliminated on

consolidation.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the group’s

accounting policies.

When the company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when the voting rights are

sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances in assessing whether or not the company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1.4  Business combinations

Goodwill

On disposal of a cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that

deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12

Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.

Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

1.5  Intangible fixed assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of ten years and these are disclosed in note 15. The

remaining amortisation period is five years.

When the consideration transferred by the group in a business combination includes asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,

the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.

Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding

adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement

period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair

value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired

and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously

held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity is remeasured to its acquisition date fair

value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that

have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest

were disposed of.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is

measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the group, liabilities incurred by the group

to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, where possible, goodwill is allocated to

each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been

allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill

allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss

recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the group reports

provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see

above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on

how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent

reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with

the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised initially at their fair value at the acquisition

date (which is regarded as their cost).
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1.8  Financial instruments

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less estimated residual value of all tangible fixed assets over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets.

The rates generally applicable are:

Freehold property

Motor vehicles

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the

group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the group.

1% per annum

1.7  Investments in associates

Straight-line over 3 to 17 years

Straight-line over 3 years

Financial assets classified FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the

investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value

of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which

the investment is acquired.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use

of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or scrappage of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Straight-line over period to next lease break clause

By equal instalments over period of lease or useful economic life if shorter

Office machinery, fixtures and fittings

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant

influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of

financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the

group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in

accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying

amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in

accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Leasehold improvements

1.6  Property, plant and equipment

Leased equipment

When the group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the group continues to use the equity method, the group reclassifies to profit or loss the

proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain

or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise

the group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the

group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate), the

group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the group has incurred legal or

constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Trade receivables

Financial liabilities

1.11  Foreign currencies

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the group will be

required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

1.10  Provisions

1.8  Financial instruments (continued)

Other creditors include amounts which are due to investment contract holders. These represent the balance held of funds on investment contracts received

plus interest received, less fees and claims paid, outstanding claims including claims incurred but not reported, profit commission on the investment

contracts and unrealised exchange difference relating to the revaluation into Sterling of other non Sterling currency sums, translated at the exchange rate on

the balance sheet date.

1.9  Amounts due to contract holders

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less

(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Trade

receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for

impairment.

Loans and receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the

company's obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

Cash and cash equivalents

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking

into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present

obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each

balance sheet date.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its

functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in

Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency of the company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

The derivative is presented as a current asset / liability or non-current asset / liability depending on the whether it is expected to be settled within or after 12

months.

The group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts.  Further details of these derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 28.

Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in

current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The group’s

loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies)

are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in

foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Leases

(a) The group as a lessee

-  Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method)

and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

-  variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the

group's incremental borrowing rate.

The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding

lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months

or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the

group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more

representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

- The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase

option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Two group subsidiaries have applied IFRS 16 or the United States equivalent ASC842 using the cumulative catch-up approach and therefore comparative

information has not been restated and is presented.  The details of accounting policy under IFRS 16 are presented below.

1.12  Leases

-  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or

payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the net

investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or

partial disposal of the net investment.

The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

- The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which case the

lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a

change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates

fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

- A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on

the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

1.11  Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a

subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of

which the retained interest become a financial assets), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the

owners of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

The group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day,

less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses.
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Leases for which the group is a lessor are classified as operating leases. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it

excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The

group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the

underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is

depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.   The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Current tax

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and

arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related

payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other

expenses’ in profit or loss (see note 26).

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease

components as a single arrangement. The group has not used this practical expedient. For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more

additional lease or non-lease components, the group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-

alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

(b) The group as lessor

1.13  Income Tax

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Whenever the group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying

asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs

relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Deferred tax

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, if applicable, the group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the contract to each

component.

1.12  Leases (continued)

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,

except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised

to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable

that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Lease income relates to the sublet of the ground floor, fourth floor, and fifth floor of 90 Fenchurch Street.  The lease term expires March 2025.
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- remeasurement.

Net-interest expense or income is recognised within finance costs (see note 8).

1.13  Income Tax (continued)

The group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs within cost of sales and administrative expenses (see note 30) in its consolidated

income statement.  Curtailments gains and losses are accounted for as past-service cost.

During the year, the group offset current tax assets and liabilities (and deferred tax assets and liabilities) where they relate to income taxes levied by the

same tax authority and the tax authority permits the entity to make or receive a single net payment. This is a change to the approach adopted in 2021

which incorrectly offset all current tax assets and liabilities (and all deferred tax assets and liabilities).  

Dividends payable to the company's shareholders are recognised in the group's financial statements in the period in which the dividend is paid.

Deferred tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the

end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

- net interest expense or income; and

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the

entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

1.15  Dividends payable

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit method, with actuarial valuations

being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on scheme assets (excluding

interest) are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they

occur. Remeasurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period

of scheme amendment. Net-interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. From 31 December 2016, the

company adopted an alternative approach in determining a discount rate that is to be applied when calculating the pension liability, following a review of the

evidence and methods used. The discount rate is required to be set based on the market yield available on high quality corporate bond yields (assumed to

be AA rated corporate bonds). In determining the yield curve on which the discount rate is derived, the new approach assumes flat forward rates from 30

years onwards, resulting in a higher discount rate and a lower value being placed on the pension liabilities. Defined benefit pension costs are split into three

categories:

- current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

1.14  Retirement benefits and similar obligations

The group assumed a liability to pay annuities to those former partners of Thos R. Miller & Son (Bermuda) and Thos R. Miller & Son who retired prior to

1989.  The schemes' liabilities have been accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits and are unfunded. 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax

or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.  Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the group’s 

obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the deficit or surplus in the group’s defined benefit schemes. Any

surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the schemes or

reductions in future contributions to the schemes.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when

it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.
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1.16  Revenue

Consultancy fees

Investment management fees

Club management fees

All other revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring

services to its clients. The group recognises revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of

the services promised.

1.17  Own shares held by Employee Benefit Trusts

The group generates a proportion of its (contingent commissions) income through arranging "After The Event" ("ATE") insurance for its customers, primarily

through its recently acquired subsidiary TheJudge Limited. Commission income from "After The Event" insurance work and litigation funding is recognised

once the relevant case has been successful and the deadline for appeals has passed. If a commission has been received, but an appeal is expected to

follow, then a provision against this income will be made. Some of this income is paid up front and is non-refundable, so is recognised as revenue upon

completion of the performance obligations. However, the majority of the revenue is contingent upon the successful outcome of litigation cases, some of

which take a number of years to conclude and so is considered   variable consideration. The company classifies this variable consideration as accrued

income, and estimates its value using either a) the expected value method – based on probability weighted amounts by reviewing historical data such as

win/loss frequencies commissions received and using it to apply loss ratio discounts and staging premiums to the book of portfolio, or b) the most likely

outcome method – where the case is distinct in their characteristics   determining the outcome of the case. The variable consideration is then constrained

to account for the uncertainty associated with the cases and the probability of a significant reversal in revenue. The most appropriate method is chosen and

applied consistently to each specific customer group or book of business. 

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised over time as the services are rendered based on either a fixed price or an hourly rate. The group

provide consultancy services per terms of engagements and the client is invoiced when the engagement is complete. Revenue from the rendering of

services is measured by reference to the stage of completion of the service transaction at the end of the reporting period provided that the outcome can be

reliably estimated.  When the outcome cannot be reliably estimated, revenue is recognised only to the extent that expenses recognised are recoverable.

For each source of revenue, the nature of service, timing of obligations, significant payment terms and refund obligations are discussed below.

The group is contracted to provide management services to a number of insurance entities over their financial period. Fees are received to perform these

management services, comprised of a fixed fee and an incentive fee, the conditions of which vary between management agreements. Some arragements

provide for an income return if costs incurred fall below set agreed figures. Services provided to clients, which at the balance sheet date have not been

billed to clients, are recognised as revenue. Revenue recognised in this manner is based on an assessment of the fair value of the services provided at the

balance sheet date as a proportion of the total value of the engagement. Revenue is only recognised where the company has a contractual right to receive

consideration for the delivery of its performance obligation. The entities are invoiced and fees received on an annual, bi-annual or quarterly basis. The

group satisfies its contractual arrangements with the entities as the management services are provided, evenly over the entities' financial period. 

The group has in place, investment management agreements with entities to provide investment management services over a contracted period.

Management fees, based on the value of managed investments, are invoiced and fees received on a quarterly basis. The group satisfies its contractual

arrangements with the entities as the investment management services are provided, evenly over the contracted period. 

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the value of insurance commissions, amounts chargeable to clients for professional services,

investment management services, advisory services and agency and management fees attributable to the accounting year.

Insurance commissions

Insurance commissions are recognised on the date the underlying insurance policy is bound. Where there is an expectation of future servicing costs, an

element of income relating to the insurance policy is deferred to cover the associated contractual obligation. The group has in place binding authority

agreements with insurers to underwrite insurance policies and perform claims handling services on behalf of the insurer, for which commission is receivable.  

Commission in respect of underwriting insurance policies is recognised when the insurance policy has been placed. An allowance is made for potential

policy cancellations, where policyholders have the right to cancel prior to inception. Commission received in respect of handling claims is recognised over

the period the service is expected to be provided.

Shares held within Employee Benefit Trusts ("EBTs") are dealt with in the balance sheet as a deduction from equity shareholders' funds. Any gains or

losses arising on the disposal of shares held within the EBTs are shown as a movement within shareholders' funds.

Other
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1.19  The Thomas Miller Healthcare Trust

2.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that may have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed in note 28).

In the application of the group and company's accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The group’s defined benefit obligation is discounted at a rate set by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate

bonds. Significant judgement is required when setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The most

significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the issue size of the corporate bonds, quality of the bonds and the identification of outliers

which are excluded.  The inflation and mortality assumptions are set out in Note 30, as is further informaton regarding the sensitivity analysis.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the group measures the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination

at fair value. The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are different in a number of instances from the values shown in the entities’ own financial

statements. This is due to the application of different accounting policies in these financial statements or the application of fair valuation principles to assets

and liabilities recorded by the entities under other bases such as historical cost (for instance due to discounting requirements of acquisition accounting).

Fair value adjustments can be based on external appraisals or valuation models, e.g. accrued income recognised for contingent commissions. The

difference in values is accounted for as goodwill (note 15).

Discount, Inflation, and Mortality rates used to determine the carrying amount of the group’s defined benefit obligation

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At

each balance sheet date until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss for the year.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based

on the group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet date, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity

instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is

recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves.

The fund amount cannot in any circumstances be transferred to any person or body who is or has at any time been an employer.  The Trust is accounted for 

in accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 32 Employee Benefit Trusts and other payment arrangements.

The Thomas Miller Healthcare Trust Scheme ("Scheme") was set up on 1 July 2010 to provide certain benefits relating to medical treatment for employees

of Thomas Miller & Co. Limited (“TMC”) and other persons who are eligible to participate in the Scheme. The benefits payable are the actual cost of the

treatment up to the maximum (if any) specified in the trust deeds benefits table applicable at the time treatment was received (subject to any excess or

benefit limitation which may be stipulated in the rules). The Scheme will pay benefits only for expenditure that a member has incurred during the scheme

year for which contribution from TMC or another applicable employer has been made into the Scheme. 

1.18  Share-based payments

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

Fair valuation of acquisitions

Save As You Earn ("SAYE") share options granted to employees are treated as cancelled when employees cease to contribute to the scheme. This results

in accelerated recognition of the expenses that would have arisen over the remainder of the original vesting period.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the

grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled

share-based transactions are set out in note 27.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except

where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date

the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors have made in the

process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.
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Refund liability 

Contingent commissions

3.  Revenue

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Bermuda 16,527 13,085 

United Kingdom and Europe 143,291 138,496 

Americas 9,984 9,848 

Asia Pacific 6,280 5,248 

Africa 1,622 1,436 

177,704 168,113 

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

131,524 118,306 

2,691 3,214 

Consultancy fees 18,702 17,649 

Insurance commissions 16,899 23,077 

Claims management 4,381 4,138 

Rental Income 961 539 

Other income 2,546 1,190 

177,704 168,113 

For the recognition of contingent commissions within TheJudge Group, either the expected value method or most likely outcome method is applied. Most

cases are calculated under the expected value method which takes into account the uncertainty associated with the income values due to the broad range

of possible considerations which depend on the stage a case is settled or taken to court – the probabilities of a case settling at different stages is based on

historic data and management judgement. The value of cases have probability weighted outcomes applied to reflect the likelihood of success – ranging

from 23% to 54% based on historical data and management judgement. If the loss rate were to increase/decrease by 10 percentage points, the accrued

income balance should increase/decrease by £1.87m. The most likely outcome method is used for cases which due to their characteristics are not able to

use the expected value method. A constraint is applied as variable consideration should only be included in the transaction price to the extent that it is

highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. Due to the binary nature of the variable

consideration, either receiving commission if a case is won or not if it is lost, the variable consideration from the most likely outcome method is constrained

to nil by applying management judgement. In the unlikely scenario that all the constrained cases win and generate commission, this could result in income

of £7,679,548. Finally, the accrued income is discounted to   reflect the time value of money, as many cases will not conclude within one year. Assumptions

are made regarding the timing of settlement using historic cash realisation patterns and management judgement.   The company has made estimates and

assumptions in calculating the fair value of this accrued income, and management considers these to be supportable, reasonable and robust. However,

given the inherent uncertainty of the outcome and timing of conclusion of litigation cases, it is possible that outcomes in the forthcoming financial years

could result in a materially different figure to the £13.1m million   shown at the balance sheet date. Due to the current uncertainty around interest rates in the

market, we have performed a sensitivity analysis on that to show for 2023, that the contingent commission decreases by £116,093 for each percentage

point that the interest rate increases.    

Disaggregation of revenue

Investment management fees

Revenue by nature of business is shown below: 

Insurance management fees

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The

value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate present value.  Please refer to note 15 for further information.

Judgements in determining the transaction price and the amounts allocated to performance obligations

2.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

The refund liability represents the amount of commission received or receivable on insurance policies bound but not incepted, for which the group does not

expect to be entitled. Historical data is used across product lines to estimate such returns when the policy is bound based on an expected value

methodology and is updated at the end of each reporting period for changes in circumstances. Sensitivity analysis has shown for 2023, that the Refund

Liability changes by £26,808 for each percentage point that the "NTU" rate changes

Revenue by geographical origin is shown below: 
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3.  Revenue (continued)

Contract balances

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Contract assets 27,299 31,027 

Contract liabilities (44,032) (38,703)

Contract assets 2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Contract assets at the beginning of the period 31,027 30,019 

(Reductions) / Additions (3,728) 1,008 

Contract assets at the end of the period 27,299 31,027 

Contract liabilities 2023 2023 2022 2022

Deferred 

income

Refund 

liability

Deferred 

income

Refund 

liability

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Contract liabilities at the beginning of the period 38,303 400 39,703 830 

Payments received in advance 5,422 - - - 

Charge / (credit) during the year - (93) (1,400) (430)

Contract liabilities at the end of the period 43,725 307 38,303 400 

4.  Operating profit

This is stated after charging / (crediting): 2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Depreciation and amortisation charges:

-  Owned assets 2,070 2,710 

-  Leasehold improvements 942 945 

436 439 

-  Right of use assets 4,147 4,805 

-  Goodwill impairment 2,492 1,787 

Rentals under operating leases 664 (244)

(Losses) / gain on disposal of tangible fixed assets (88) 17 

Exchange losses / (gains) 431 (1,619)

Exchange (gains) / losses on forward contracts (122) 187 

Receivables (which are included in 'Trade and other receivables')

Contract assets are comprised of current and non-current Accrued Income set out in Note 19.

Contract liabilities are comprised of Deferred income and Provision for refund liability set out in Note 21.

For 2023, revenue includes £38.3 million included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period.

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

-  Intangible assets

The group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that

have original expected durations of one year or less. The group applies the practical expedient in paragraph C5(c) of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the

amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations and an explanation of when the group expects to recognise that amount

as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year the company has considered the sufficiency of the constraint applied to particular contracts that exhibit the greatest extent of volatility.   An 

increase in the constraint has been applied to the value of these cases resulting in a £4,493,313 reduction in the value of accrued income on the balance 

sheet.
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4.  Operating profit (continued)

The analysis of auditor remuneration is as follows:

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's annual accounts 170 164 

Fees payable to the company's auditor and their associates for other services to the group:

438 431 

173 208 

Total audit fees 781 803 

-  Tax services 30 28 

-  Other services 143 207 

Total non-audit fees 173 235 

5.  Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year was as follows:

(i) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid to directors by the company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Salaries, fees and short-term employee benefits 2,285 3,530 

Post-employment benefits  53  45 

Share based payments  708  719 

 3,046  4,294 

Analysis of Directors' Remuneration (a)   

Salaries, fees and short-term employee benefits   

   Annual salary              1,675              2,030 

   Cash bonus                382                 395 

   Other cash payments (car allowance, pension allowance and other)                 59                   64 

   Risk benefits                  46                   46 

   Compensation for loss of office                  -                  828 

   Non-Executive director fees                 124                 167 

            2,285             3,530 

Post employment benefits   

   Defined contribution pension scheme                  53                   45 

  

Share based payments   

   Restricted share award (b)               206                 719 

   Long-term incentive award ("LTIP") (c)               502  - 

               708                 719 

             3,046              4,294 

The fees for other services includes costs associated with supporting various corporate transactions.

Fees payable to other auditors for the audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

Charitable donations paid by the group in 2023 amounted to £106,000 (2022 - £96,000).

-  The audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation (including overseas subsidiaries)
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5.  Directors’ remuneration (continued)

  

  

Cash bonus - £381,375 (2022 - £469,598)   

Restricted share award - £206,179 (2022 - £237,181)   

Long Term Incentive Award (unvested nil-cost options) - £1,725,690 (2022 - £1,326,000)   

  

(ii) Directors and retirement benefits

The number of directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing in respect of qualifying services was:

2023 2022

Number Number

Defined benefit schemes 1 1 

Defined contribution schemes 2 2 

Exercised options over shares in the parent company 2 5 

Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 4 - 

6.  Employee information (including directors)

2023 2022

Number Number

United Kingdom and Europe 756 726 

Asia 79 83 

Americas 44 40 

Australasia 12 12 

Middle East 1 1 

892 862 

Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. (The Company) has no employees.

The total payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries (including bonuses) 94,914 89,451 

Redundancy costs 19 2,833 

Social security costs 9,624 8,926 

Other pension costs - defined contribution schemes 8,571 7,489 

113,128 108,699 

The provision made for the Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP") - included within wages and salaries, which was set up to align senior managers' long-

term incentive arrangements with the long-term interests of the company, is discussed in note 27. 

a) Directors remuneration is reported on an 'as paid' basis. Bonus and share based awards reported above therefore relate to performance in the prior

financial year. These awards in respect of 2023 will be paid in 2024 and will therefore be formally reported in the 2024 accounts - these are reported at note

4 below for information.

d) Awards approved by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee in their April 2024 meeting for current TMH Executive Directors in respect of 2023

are:

c) In 2020, 2021 and 2022, LTIP awards in the form of unvested nil-cost options were made to executive directors. The value of these awards will be

reported on vesting in 2023, 2024 and 2025 respectively.

b) Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP") is awarded in restricted shares with a five year restriction period.

The average number of persons employed by the group during the year was 892 (2022 - 862).  The split between geographical areas was as follows:

The awards above relate to payments due in respect of the 2023 financial year, and exclude loss of office and gardening leave elements. 
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7.  Finance income

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Interest receivable and similar income 1,061 184 

Net finance income on retirement benefit schemes (note 30) 1,002 627 

2,063 811 

8.  Finance costs

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Bank Interest 108 26 

Interest on IFRS 16 and other finance leases 911 781 

1,019 807 

9.  Other gains and losses

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Net gains arising on financial assets measured at FVPTL 7,739 273 

10.  Income tax 

The tax charge is based on the profit for the year and represents:

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Current tax on profit on ordinary activities

UK corporation tax 1,496 2,215 

Foreign tax suffered 927 710 

2,423 2,925 

Foreign tax relief - - 

Overseas taxation - adjustments in respect of prior years 11 (44)

UK taxation - adjustments in respect of prior years 10 123 

Total current tax 2,444 3,004 

Deferred tax:

Current year 2,010 (678)

110 (52)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (2) 241 

Total deferred tax charge / (credit) 2,118 (489)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 4,562 2,515 

In 2023, a net gain of £7,739,000 (2022 - £273,000) was made in relation to the investment in the Shipserv business. Having sold its trade and assets in

2023, the holding company in which Thomas Miller owns shares placed itself into voluntary liquidation, with a cash distribution to shareholders expected

some time in 2024.

Effect of changes in tax rates

There is a credit risk attached to timing of the expected distribution, therefore a discount has been applied to reflect this in the Fair Value assessment. The

assumption is all funds will be received at the end of 2024, therefore have been discounted using our RCF borrowing rate with a load of the yield difference

between AAA and B rated Bonds.
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10.  Income tax  (continued)

11.  Reconciliation of current year tax charge

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

21,951 16,134 

5,163 3,065 

1,232 1,183 

(2,193) (1,762)

110 (52)

100 188 

(540) (427)

620 - 

49 241 

21 79 

4,562 2,515 

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Current tax:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Excess tax credits / (deductions) related to contributions to defined benefit schemes (840) (715)

Deferred tax:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 603 (2,249)

(237) (2,964)

Deferred tax credit from unrecognised temporary difference from a prior period

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows:

Tax decrease from utilisation of tax losses

Deferred tax expense relating to changes in tax rates or laws

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised in other comprehensive income:

Tax charge for the year

Increase from effect of foreign tax rates

Profit before tax on continuing operations

On 24 May 2021, legislation was substantially enacted in the UK to increase the corporate tax rate to 25% (from 19%) with effect from 1 April 2023. As a

result of the change, the deferred tax balances have been calculated at 25% at year end. 

(Decrease) / increase in current tax from adjustment for prior periods

Decrease from effect of revenues exempt from taxation

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Effects of:

Increase from effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit /(tax loss)

Tax (decrease) / increase from effect of unrelieved losses on foreign subsidiaries

Profit on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the standard rate of tax of 23.52% (2022 - 19%)

The OECD's Pillar Two framework aims to ensure MNEs with global annual revenues above 750m Euros pay a minimum effective tax rate on income within

each jurisdiction in which they operate.  The TMH group has not breached the revenue threshold and therefore is not currently in scope of Pillar Two
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11.  Reconciliation of current year tax charge (continued)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Current tax:

(88) (14)

Deferred tax:

Change in estimated excess tax deductions related to share-based payments 3 (10)

Total income tax recognised directly in equity (85) (24)

12.  Profit attributable to the company

13.  Dividends

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

TM Holdings Dividends

1,347 1,378 

2,593 2,660 

1,309 1,363 

5,249 5,401 

TMS Dividends

277 505 

Total Dividends 5,526 5,907 

£’000

1,335 

The trustees of the employee benefit trusts ("EBTs") waived their rights to dividends payable after 20 January 2005.

14.  Earnings per share 

Excess tax deductions related to share-based payments on exercised options

In February 2024, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2022 - 12.5p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 4

March 2024, paid in March 2024. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 25.5p per share (2022 - 24.0p) will be paid to shareholders on the

register on 31 May 2024. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.62 million (2022 - £2.59 million). This dividend, together with the second interim

dividend, has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

The following dividends were agreed by the directors and have not been included as a liability in these financial statements:

The profit for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company was £10.48 million (2022 - £9.16 million). As permitted by

Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 no separate income statement is presented in respect of the parent company.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

during the year.  Shares held by the Employee Benefit Trusts are excluded from the calculation of the weighted average number of shares.

Final dividend of 24p paid for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 final - 24.0p) per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares. The group had one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares being those share options in issue where the exercise price is

less than the average market price of the company's shares during the year. 

Second interim dividend paid for year ended 31 December 2022 of 12.5p (2021 - 12.5p) per share

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement and other comprehensive income, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised

directly in equity:

First interim dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2023 of 12.5p (2022 - 12.5p) per share

Second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of 13.0p per share - paid in March 2024.

Final dividend of £1,230 paid for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 final - £1,444) per share

TMSUAL has on issue a special class of shares for the Offshore business to enable profit sharing per agreed defined criteria
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14.  Earnings per share (continued)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Earnings

Profit for the financial year 17,388 13,619 

Basic and diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 17,388 13,619 

2023 2022

Number Number

'000 '000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 10,672 10,988 

Effect of dilutive share options 89 81 

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares 10,761 11,069 

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per share 162.9p 123.9p 

Diluted earnings per share 161.6p 123.0p 

15.  Intangible fixed assets

Group Goodwill Software 

and 

customer 

lists

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2023 14,826 6,430 21,256 

Exchange adjustments - (48) (48)

Additions - 7 7 

Impairment (2,492) - (2,492)

Disposals - - - 

At 31 December 2023 12,334 6,389 18,723 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2023 1,056 3,882 4,938 

Exchange adjustments - (45) (45)

Provided in the year - 436 436 

Disposals - - - 

At 31 December 2023 1,056 4,273 5,329 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2023 11,278 2,116 13,394 

At 31 December 2022 13,770 2,548 16,318 
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15.  Intangible fixed assets (continued)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

981 981 

- 975 

4,844 4,844 

3,625 3,625 

TheJudge Group Holdings Ltd 1,828 3,345 

11,278 13,770 

Thomas Miller Insurance (Germany) Gmbh

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually and for new acquisitions in the year of acquisition, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill

might be impaired. The group has conducted an analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to changes in the key assumptions used to determine the

recoverable amount for each of the group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key

assumptions on which the recoverable amount of CGUs is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable

amount of the related CGUs.

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited, Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited 

and Thomas Miller Bermuda Ltd

Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Goodwill arising on acquisition of former 

partnerships

Description

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the Cash Generating Units ("CGUs"), or group of units that are expected to

benefit from that business combination.  Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

Goodwill on acquisition of business

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (CGU) i.e. for Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited, Brookes Bell LLP, Thomas Miller Insurance

(Germany) Gmbh are determined from a "value in use" calculation, where the key assumptions relate to discount rate, revenue growth and cost growth.

Management estimates the discount rate using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money. An individual discount

rate is used for the impairment reviews of each CGU, the range applied is 10.50% to 15.75%.

Brookes Bell LLP (including 3D Marine Inc.)

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Goodwill on acquisition of business

For Germany, reverse stress testing indicated that for the goodwill headroom to be reduced to nil, if profit before tax in 2024 was nil then 2025 and 2026

would need to be 2% and (8)% respectively above the current forecasted position which is considered to be highly unlikely based on current expectations. 

For Brookes Bell, sensitivity analysis indicated that, for the goodwill headroom to become nil, if profit before tax in 2024 was nil then 2025 and 2026 would

both need to be 9% below the current forecasted position which is considered to be highly unlikely based on current expectations

Cash generating units:

The amortisation period for software and customers lists is ten years.

£981,000 of goodwill remains from £3.71 million which arose as a result of a group reorganisation soon after 2000. The group continues to operate with

almost all the traditional businesses remaining in place and still produces strong profits. Adjustments processed in respect of the introduction of IFRS

reversed any amortisation that took place after 1 January 2014 (IFRS transition date) onwards, leaving balances prior to this date unchanged. At 31

December 2023, impairment has been reconsidered and none was proposed.  

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited, Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited and Thomas Miller Bermuda Ltd

Due to the uncertain economic environment, additional impairment testing (sensitivity analysis) work was performed on the Brookes Bell, Specialty,

Germany, and TheJudge CGUs. For Specialty, the current forecast projections for financial years 2024 - 2026 show all years in loss making positions

resulting in a full impairment of Goodwill totalling £975,000 . For TheJudge, due to a slower than expected recovery after Covid enforced court closures, a

conservative approach has been adopted, therefore the impairment test has been based on a projecting average 2020-2023 cashflow forward into future

periods which reflects TheJudges performance versus plan for since acquisition. This has resulted in an impairment of £1,517,000 being recorded based

on a Value in Use asset of £14.2 million. A further reduction in the EBITDA growth rate assumption of 1% would result in a further impairment of £0.93m,

while an increase in the discount rate used of 1%, would result in a further impairment of £1.11m. 

Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited, Brookes Bell LLP, Thomas Miller Insurance (Germany) Gmbh and TheJudge Group Holdings Limited

The revenue and cost growth rates used are based on reasonable management expectations for the 2024-2026 budgets and then in perpetuity with the

extrapolation using a 2% growth rate.
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16.  Property, plant and equipment

Group Freehold 

buildings

Leasehold

improve-

ments

Office 

machinery, 

fixtures & 

fittings

Office 

machinery, 

fixtures & 

fittings

Motor 

vehicles

Total

Leased / Owned Owned

financed

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 January 2023 250 6,628 1,178 20,713 76 28,845 

Exchange adjustments - (86) (1) (102) - (189)

Additions - 1,365 - 13,149 - 14,514 

Disposals - - - (417) - (417)

At 31 December 2023 250 7,907 1,177 33,343 76 42,753 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2023 - 3,253 1,153 10,544 3 14,953 

Exchange adjustments - (32) (1) (62) - (95)

Provided in the year - 942 - 2,070 - 3,012 

Disposals - - - (366) - (366)

At 31 December 2023 - 4,163 1,152 12,186 3 17,504 

Net book value

At 31 December 2023 250 3,745 25 21,157 73 25,249 

At 31 December 2022 250 3,376 25 10,169 73 13,893 

Net obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are secured on the assets acquired.

Additions and disposals also include some reclassifications within each heading due to transfers of assets between two group subsidiaries.

17.  Investments held as fixed assets

Group

£’000

Interests in associates

2023

At 1 January 2023 183 

Foreign exchange adjustment (11)

Dividends received from associates (73)

Share of operating profit of associates for the year 34 

At 31 December 2023 133 

2022

At 1 January 2022 140 

Foreign exchange adjustment 4 

Dividends received from associates (20)

Share of operating profit of associates for the year 59 

At 31 December 2022 183 

Share of

net assets
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17.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

Group

Other investments - unlisted £’000

2023

At 1 January 2023 401 

Additions 7,739 

At 31 December 2023 8,140 

2022

At 1 January 2022 401 

At 31 December 2022 401 

Company Other fixed 

asset 

investments

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

2023

53,192 125 53,317 

Disposals (2,817) - (2,817)

50,375 125 50,500 

2022

53,816 125 53,941 

Disposals (624) - (624)

53,192 125 53,317 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Name of company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings 

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited

Building LifePlans Limited

BLP Technical Services (UK) Ltd*

Leeward Management Co Ltd (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd (incorporated in Bermuda)

Thomas Miller (Hellas) Ltd* (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investment Holdings Ltd (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investment Ltd*

Thomas Miller Investment (Isle of Man) Limited* (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited (formerly Osprey Holdings Limited)

Thomas Miller Specialty Underwriting Agency Limited*

Osprey Aerospace Limited*

Thomas Miller Specialty Agency Ltd (Singapore) Pte. Limited Underwriting agency

Other fixed

asset

investments

Underwriting agency

Investment management services

General services

Construction services

Investment holding

Management services

Subsidiary 

undertakings

Service company

At 1 January 2022

At 31 December 2022

Construction project reviews

Underwriting agency

At 1 January 2023

The ShipServ investment is accounted for a fixed asset investment at FVTPL. A net gain of £7,739,000 was made in relation to the investment in the

Shipserv business due to the sale of its trade and assets in 2023, the holding company in which Thomas Miller owns shares placed itself into voluntary

liquidation, with a cash distribution to shareholders expected some time in 2024.

Investment management services

At 31 December 2023

Investment holding

Investment holding

Details of the investments in which the group or the company holds more than 10% of the nominal value of any class of share capital are shown below. The

various undertakings are primarily engaged in the management of insurance mutuals and other managing general agency activities in the international

transport and professional indemnity sectors and 100% of ordinary shares and voting rights are held, unless otherwise stated. Unless indicated to the

contrary, all investments are held by the company and incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales.
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17.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

Name of company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Thomas Miller (Bermuda) Ltd. (incorporated in Bermuda)

Windsor Insurance Company Limited* (Bermuda)

Windsor Private Trustee Company Ltd* (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investments (Bermuda) Ltd* (Bermuda)

TMB Trustee Company Limited* Pension scheme trustee

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller Captive Management Limited* (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Management Services Limited*

     SIGCo Management Services (IOM) Ltd* (Isle of Man) Insurance intermediary

Ilex Global Reinsurance Company Limited*

Thomas Miller Insurance Managers Limited (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller Claims Management Limited

Shearwater Law Ltd*

Thomas Miller Claims Management Pty Ltd* (Australia)

Thomas Miller (Australasia) Pty Ltd* (Australia)

The Occupational Pensions Defence Union Limited

Thomas Miller Professions Ltd

Thomas Miller KK (Japan)

Thomas Miller (UK) Holdings Company Ltd

        Marine Response Services Ltd*

        H.A.P.M. Management Company Limited*

        Signum Services Ltd.*

        International Transport Intermediaries Management Company Ltd*

        Thomas Miller P&I Ltd*

        Thomas Miller Defence Ltd.*

        Thomas Miller Professional Indemnity Limited*

        Thomas Miller War Risks Services Limited*

        Through Transport Mutual Services (UK) Limited * Agency and management services

        Through Transport Mutual Services (Iberica) SL Agency and management services

Entremain Limited

Thomas Miller (Americas) Inc.* (America)

     Thomas Miller (San Francisco) Inc.* (USA) Agency services

     Thomas Miller (Seatle) Inc.* (USA) Agency services

     Fairlead Group Inc.* (USA) Private investigation services

Thomas Miller Hong Kong Limited*  (Hong Kong)

Thomas Miller (South East  Asia) Pte Ltd* (Singapore)

Thomas Miller Americas Investment Holdings Inc

Brookes Bell LLP

Brookes Bell Shanghai Maritime Technology Consulting Co. Ltd* (China)

Brookes Bell Hong Kong Limited* (Hong Kong)

Brookes Bell Pte Limited* (Singapore)

Neale Consulting Engineers Limited*

Brookes Bell Limited* (Shanghai)

Associated Petroleum Consultants Ltd*

3D Marine Inc.* (America)

     Thomas Miller Claims Management (USA) Inc Management services

Thomas Miller Insurance Germany GmbH *(Germany) Management services

Thomas Miller Specialty GmbH *

ZASS International GmbH*

Thomas Miller Claims Management (Europe) GmbH*

Thomas Miller B.V.* (Netherlands)

Advisory services

Management services

Captive insurer

Agency services

Management services

Marine engineering consultancy

Trust management services

Management services

Investment holding

Agency services

Agency services

Insurance management services

Agency services

Transport claims handling and mediation

Marine consultancy and loss adjustor services

Marine and engineering consultancy

Reinsurance company

Marine, technical and surveying consultancy

Agency and management services

Management services

Management services

Marine and engineering consultancy

Marine, scientific, technical consultants and surveyors

Insurance recoveries

Business software development and support

Consultancy and management services

Agency and management services

Investment holding

Management services

Investment holding

Management services

Consultancy services

Management services

Investigation and security services

Agency services

Marine and engineering consultancy

Management services

Legal services

Management services

Management services

Management services

Holding company
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17.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

TheJudge Group Holdings Limited

TheJudge Limited*

TheJudge Canada* (Canada)

TheJudge Americas LLC* (America) After The Event insurance

TJversicherungsmakler GmbH After The Event insurance

Subsidiary undertakings (Dormant)

Davies Johnson Law Ltd

Prestwick Law Ltd

Thomas Miller Healthcare Trustees Ltd

TMC Trustee Company Ltd

Thomas Miller (Management Services) Ltd

Thomas Miller (Asia Pacific) Ltd

Associated undertakings and joint ventures

Through Transport Mutual Services (Gulf) (UAE partnership)* (50%)

TTMS (Argentina) SA (USA)* (50%) 

Consumer Code for New Homes Limited* (20%)

Other investments

TT (Bermuda) Services Limited (incorporated in Bermuda) (10%)

SIGCo Management (IOM) Ltd *(Isle of Man) (49%) Insurance Management Services

Hampden & Co. plc (2.035%)

ShipServ Inc. (34.3% ordinary stock, 14.5% preferred stock)

Lime Kiln Holdings Ltd (17%)

ERSO Capital Advisors LLC (17%)

* Held via an intermediate holding company

The Company holds investments in subsidiaries at cost less impairment. The Company completes an annual assessment of impairment indicators set out

in FRS 102.14.8(d) to determine if any investment has been impaired.

Marine e-procurement

Non-life insurance

Service company

Private investment bank

Holding company

Holding company

Holding company

Service company

After The Event insurance

After The Event insurance

After The Event insurance
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18.  Assets accounted for at FVTPL

Group Listed

debt

securities

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2023 2 2,465 2,467 

Net cost of bonds / investments sold - 414 414 

Foreign exchange revaluation - (21) (21)

Unrealised gains - 96 96 

Investment Return - (547) (547)

2 2,407 2,409 

Company

£’000

At 1 January and 31 December 2023 2 

19.  Trade and other receivables

Due within one year Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 7,666 - 4,244 - 

Trade debtors - 25,924 - 26,049 

Other debtors - 10,377 - 5,320 

Prepayments 73 7,939 70 7,463 

Accrued income - 17,153 - 18,822 

Accrued Interest - 30 - 8 

Corporation tax debtor - 2,046 - 765 

Derivative financial instruments - 64 - - 

7,739 63,533 4,314 58,427 

Due after one year Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax (note 20) 153 622 121 351 

Accrued income - 10,146 - 12,205 

Subordinated loans 11,626 - 10,371 - 

11,779 10,768 10,492 12,556 

Unlisted

investments

Unlisted

investments

The subordinated loans and their respective interest rates and repayment terms are shown below:

Subordinated loans were granted by the company to Shearwater Law Ltd, Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited and Brookes Bell LLP. The loans

either have fixed terms or are repayable on demand but only to the extent that the capital resources of the company exceed the minimum capital resources

requirement set by the relevant regulator. Interest receivable on the loans varies between the Bank of England base rate and 5%. Loans with an interest

rate below market rate are repayable on demand. 

At 31 December 2023
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20.  Deferred taxation

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation

Foreign 

exchange 

contracts

Retirement 

benefit 

obligations

Share-based 

payments

Tax losses 

carried 

forward

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1,566 275 7 (7,617) (25) 845 (4,949)

4 - - - - (245) (241)

1,526 (867) (2) 469 (37) (410) 678 

- - - 2,249 - - 2,249 

- - - - 10 - 10 

19 (0) - - - 1 20 

- 

41 (305) - 331 - (15) 52 

3,156 (898) 5 (4,568) (51) 176 (2,181)

2 - - - - 0 2 

(1,332) (3,152) (2) - 2,476 (2,010)

- - - (603) - - (603)

- - - - (3) - (3)

(18) 1 - - - - (17)

(85) - - (25) - - (110)

1,724 (4,049) 2 (5,197) (54) 2,653 (4,921)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Deferred tax assets 622 351 

Deferred tax liabilities (5,543) (2,532)

(4,921) (2,181)

- income statement

The following are deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting period. Amounts

of deferred taxation provided in the accounts are as follows:

Other

temporary

differences

Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Exchange differences

Credit / (charge) to profit or loss

Effect of change in tax rate:

At the balance sheet date, the group has gross unused tax losses of £20.3 million (2022 - £12.2 million) available for offset against future profits. A deferred

tax asset has been recognised in respect of £10.3 million (2022 - £0.7 million) of such losses. A group profit forecast has been performed to support the

recoverability of the deferred tax asset. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £10.0 million (2022 - £11.5 million) as it is

not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available.  All losses may be carried forward indefinitely as there is no time limit for their use.

At 31 December 2023

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2021

Credit direct to equity

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £7.0 million (2022 - £15.1 million) relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas

subsidiaries as the group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.  Temporary differences arising in connection with interests in associates are insignificant.

- income statement

Credit / (charge) to profit or loss

Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Credit direct to equity

At 31 December 2022

Charge / (credit) to other comprehensive income

Effect of change in tax rate:

During the year, the group offset deferred tax assets and liabilities where they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the tax authority

permits the entity to make or recieve a single net payment. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting

purposes:

Charge / (credit) to other comprehensive income
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21.  Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due within one year Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade creditors - 19,880 - 20,004 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 21,600 - 33,457 - 

Corporation tax payable - 958 - 749 

PAYE and social security - 2,135 - 1,936 

Other creditors 8,012 32,888 4,015 26,261 

Accruals 612 26,768 141 25,574 

Deferred income - 43,725 - 38,303 

Derivative financial instruments - 4 - 150 

Provision for refund liability - 307 - 400 

Future expense run off provision - 202 - 145 

30,224 126,867 37,613 113,522 

Amounts falling due after more than one year Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Other creditors 693 697 - 697 

- 5,543 - 2,532 

693 6,240 - 3,229 

22.  Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Dilapidation

s provision

Claims 

reserves

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 January 2023 674 50 724 

Profit and loss account charge 18 100 118 

At 31 December 2023 692 150 842 

Deferred taxation (note 20)

The group has a revolving credit facility of £10 million of committed and £10 million of uncommitted financing from HSBC. Other Creditors for the Company

and Group includes a £8.0 million (2022 - £4.0 million) fixed draw down of this facility. Net Assets of £24.9 million have been pledged as collateral from the

agreed Guarantor Group. 

Other creditors includes £10.6 million (2022 - £6.5 million) owed to third parties by Ilex Global Reinsurance Company Limited, which is a subsidiary of

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited.

Non current liabilities are valued using cost or amortised cost basis, as appropriate. Non current liabilities due more than 12 months after the reporting

period comprise of the remaining financing leases.

The dilapidations provision relates to the potential cost of complying with obligations contained within the lease of the company's premises at 90 Fenchurch

Street. These obligations relate to reinstatement, repair, redecoration and other statutory covenants. The current lease expires September 2030, payment

will be made if no extension is successfully negotiated and we vacate the premises.

Claims reserves represent amounts provided by the group's captive insurer for professional indemnity claims.
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2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Called up, allotted and fully paid:

Equity interests:  13,765,419 ordinary shares of £0.10 1,377 1,390 

The following shares of £0.10 nominal value were purchased by the company during the year:

Number of 

shares

Purchase 

price

Share

capital

Share 

premium

£ £ £

Internal share market July 2023 118,803 13.00 11,880 1,532,559 

Internal share market Dec 2023 11,066 13.00 1,107 142,751 

Number of shares Option price Exercisable from

£

12,500           8.15 Dec 2018

20,000           9.35 Jun 2019

11,189           9.35 Jul 2019

15,000           9.35 Jun 2020

15,000           9.35 Jun 2021

11,764         10.20 Mar 2022

7,764         10.20 May 2022

6,618         10.20 Mar 2023

3,618         10.20 May 2023

6,618         10.20 Mar 2024

1,570         10.20 Apr 2024

3,618         10.20 May 2024

55,000         10.30 May 2021

21,395         10.75 Jul 2021

11,674         10.75 Oct 2021

9,302         10.75 Jul 2022

6,663         10.75 Oct 2022

9,303         10.75 Jul 2023

6,663         10.75 Oct 2023

16,992         11.00 Apr 2024

6,225         11.00 Apr 2026

2,650         11.80 Apr 2025

66,729         12.20 Jan 2023

10,725         12.20 Apr 2025

5,249         12.20 Apr 2027

41,809         12.60 Feb 2025

11,531         12.60 Apr 2026

8,608         12.60 Apr 2028

The majority of options are exercisable after three years from the date of grant and up to ten years less one day from the date of grant. 

The use of the share premium account to fund share repurchases is permitted under Bermudian law.

The Company has 25,000,000 autorised shares of £0.10

23.  Called up share capital

Under the company’s Executive Share Option Scheme, employees held options for the following unissued ordinary shares at the end of the year:
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Number of shares Option price Exercisable from

£

20,068 10.20        Mar 2024

27,908 11.00        Mar 2024

22,912 11.00        Mar 2026

23,679 11.80        Mar 2025

15,844 12.20        Apr 2025

13,456 12.20        Apr 2027

23,707 12.60        Apr 2026

15,577 12.60        Apr 2028

24.  Employee Benefit Trusts

Number of 

shares

Market

value

Average

cost

Number of 

shares

Market

value

Average

cost

2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.1 902,799 11,736 11,409 543,203 6,844 6,621 

Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.2 2,656,003 34,528 12,178 2,656,003 33,466 12,178 

3,558,802 46,264 23,587 3,199,206 40,310 18,799 

In addition to the above the trusts hold shares which are not specifically vested in employees: 

Under the company’s UK Save As You Earn scheme, employees held options for the following number of ordinary shares at the end of the year:

The Thomas Miller Employee Benefit Trusts were established to acquire shares in order to make them available to group employees under profit sharing

schemes, share option schemes, an employee share ownership plan and other schemes as they become available. The details of the various share

schemes are disclosed below in note 25.

The purpose of the EBTs is to meet known and forecast demand in Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. shares and also be a source of shares for the issuance of

share awards and the exercise of options.

23.  Called up share capital (continued)

Loans have been made by Thomas Miller & Co. Limited to Apex Financial Services (Trust Company) Ltd (formerly Link Market Services (Trustees) Limited)

to enable the purchase of these shares. The Trustees of the Thomas Miller Employee Benefit Trusts ("EBT") waived their rights to dividends payable. The

company had not provided funds to Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.1 to enable it to acquire shares in the December 2023 share market (2022 -

£nil).
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25.  Own shares 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 January 18,799 15,217 

Proceeds received on exercise of options by employees (606) (904)

Loss on EBT shares acquired by employees (786) (136)

Purchase of shares in the market 8,052 6,897 

Proceeds on sale of shares in the market (278) (323)

Value of shares awarded to employees under share awards (1,472) (1,816)

Profit on shares awarded to employees 23 9 

Other disposals (145) (145)

Balance at 31 December 23,587 18,799 

The following company shares, all with a nominal value of £0.10, were purchased by the EBTs during the year for the following price:

Number of shares purchased Cost 

£’000

376,510 shares purchased in July 2023 £13.00 4,895 

242,915 shares purchased in December 2023 £13.00 3,158 

8,053 

26.  Leases

Right-of-use assets

Buildings Motor 

vehicles

Equipment Total

Cost £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2023 65,497 432 116 66,045 

Additions 1,151 - 254 1,405 

Foreign exchange movements (47) - - (47)

Disposals (2,824) (432) (38) (3,294)

At 31 December 2023 63,777 - 332 64,109 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2023 45,105 153 (24) 45,234 

Charge for the year 4,037 - 164 4,201 

Foreign exchange movements (60) - - (60)

Disposals (3,082) (153) - (3,235)

At 31 December 2023 46,000 - 140 46,140 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2023 17,777 - 192 17,969 

At 31 December 2022 20,392 279 140 20,811 

The 1 June 2023 price of £13.00 was determined by the parent company's current valuer, Alvarez & Marsal Valuation Services LLP, for a single share in

accordance with the company's bye-laws.  The share price at 1 November 2023 of £13.00 was determined on the same basis by the same valuer.

The shares held by the EBT are to be used to settle share awards under the various share schemes operated by the group. The remaining shares are

intended to be used to satisfy share options, to distribute as bonuses and to distribute to employees on reaching three years continuous service with the

group. As at 31 December 2023, the cost of the shares held by the EBT exceed the anticipated proceeds from the exercise of outstanding options and other

share awards by £1,122,912 (2022 £462,970).

Price per share
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26.  Leases (continued)

Amounts recognised in consolidated income statement

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 4,201 4,805 

Profit on disposal of assets - (25)

Interest expense on lease liabilities 911 781 

Expense relating to dilapidations 28 45 

Lease liabilities

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Analysed as:

Non-current 16,021 20,609 

Current 5,199 5,023 

21,220 25,632 

Maturity analysis - Lease expense

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Year 1 5,199 5,023 

Year 2 1,226 4,808 

Year 3 2,570 1,038 

Year 4 3,061 2,457 

Year 5 3,075 2,939 

Onwards 6,089 9,367 

21,220 25,632 

The group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. 

Maturity analysis - Lease income

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Year 1 562 576 

Year 2 - 562 

562 1,138 

The group leases several assets including buildings and photocopiers.  The average lease term is 2.6 years (2022 - 2.7 years).

The group has options to purchase certain manufacturing equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The group’s obligations are

secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases.

The weighted average lessees’ incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position on 31 December 2023

is 3.90% (2022 - 3.38%).

Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the group up to one year before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where

practicable, the group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by

the group and not by the lessors. The group assesses at the lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.

The group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its

control.  No such changes, circumstances or significant events have required any reassessment.
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Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

477,461 10.82 183,130 11.27 660,591 10.95

64,698 12.50 42,997 12.60 107,695 12.54

(10,041) 10.49 (23,738) 11.49 (33,779) 11.19

(126,341) 10.94 (39,238) 11.13 (165,579) 10.98

405,777 11.06 163,151 11.62 568,928 11.22

223,453 10.04 - - 223,453 10.04

491,860 10.41 229,101 10.75 720,961 10.52

82,953 12.20 40,201 12.20 123,154 12.20

(57,775) 10.32 (37,576) 10.78 (95,351) 10.50

(39,577) 10.57 (48,596) 9.99 (88,173) 10.25

477,461 10.82 183,130 11.27 660,591 10.95

202,102 9.96 - - 202,102 9.96

Equity-settled share option schemes

27.  Share-based payments

Total

Outstanding at beginning of period

Outstanding at beginning of period

The group operates a savings related option scheme under which employees save a fixed amount per month over either a three year or five year period

under a Save As You Earn contract operated by a third party administrator. On completion of the savings contract employees have the choice, within six

months of the vesting date, of either exercising their option or taking the amount saved in cash. The options automatically lapse six months after vesting.

This scheme is a scheme approved by the UK tax authorities and as such is only available to employees resident in the UK and the Isle of Man. 

Granted during the period

Exercised during the period

Forfeited during the period

Exercised during the period

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was £12.65. The options outstanding at 31

December 2023 had a weighted average exercise price of £11.22, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.57 years. The aggregate of the

estimated fair values of the options granted in 2023 is £186,615 (2022 - £173,767). 

(ii) The Thomas Miller UK Savings Related Share Option Scheme

Year ended 31 December 2022

Forfeited during the period

(iii) The Thomas Miller Non UK Share Option Scheme

Year ended 31 December 2023

The Thomas Miller UK 

Savings Related Share 

Option Scheme

The Thomas Miller 

Executive Share Option 

Scheme

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

The group awards share options to certain employees under the Thomas Miller Executive Share Option Scheme enabling them to acquire ordinary shares

in Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. at their market value at the date of grant. Options are generally exercisable three years after the date of grant and up to ten

years less one day from the date of grant. Options are forfeited when an employee leaves the group unless by reason of retirement or redundancy, in which

case, the employee has up to six months to exercise the option. 

Exercisable at the end of the period

(i) The Thomas Miller Executive Share Option Scheme

The company has various share option schemes as outlined below:

Granted during the period

The options granted under this scheme are identical to those granted under the UK savings related option scheme with the exception that there is no

savings related element to the scheme. This scheme is only open to non UK employees. This scheme is part of the Thomas Miller Executive Share Option

Scheme and the option movements for the  Thomas Miller Non UK Share Option Scheme are shown below as part of that scheme's disclosures.

Outstanding at the end of the period

Outstanding at the end of the period

Exercisable at the end of the period

Employee share option schemes and other share-based plans
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2023 2022

£12.60 £12.20

£12.60 £12.20

25% 25%

2.01 2.01

3.17% 1.33%

49.00p 47.70p

Dividend yield 3.89% 3.91%

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

132 137 

Executive Directors' Long-Term Incentive Plan 797 1,326 

1,151 1,448 

77 128 

127 163 

2,284 3,202 

Weighted average exercise price

The inputs into the Black-Scholes option pricing model in respect of share options granted are as follows:

Charges in respect of service award scheme - cash-settled

ii) The Thomas Miller Save As You Earn (‘SAYE’) Scheme

The UK-tax efficient SAYE scheme allows employees to contribute over either three or five years to a savings scheme and at the same time take out share

options of the equivalent value of shares. At the end of the agreed period the employees has six months in which to decide whether to exercise the share

options, or instead simply to receive back the cash that has accumulated in the savings account. For employees in non-UK locations, a similar value of

share options can be granted under a separate scheme, however there are no associated tax benefits. The UK scheme is approved by the UK’s HM

Revenue and Customs.

Since 2019 when the 2017 Executive Director LTIP was brought to an end, the Company has made discretionary awards of nil-cost options to TMH

Executive Directors, based on their performance in the financial year. Executive Directors have an LTIP target percentage in line with the total

compensation agreed for their respective roles. Under the 2023 discretionary LTIP, the RNC considers discretionary awards of nil-cost options for the

eligible Directors, to vest after three years. A new Executive Director LTIP has been implemented effective from the 2024 financial year, which replaces the

current discretionary LTIP.  

Expected volatility

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group's share price over the period since incorporation. 

Expected life (years)

Risk-free rate

Shares awarded under bonus schemes - cash-settled

Cash-settled share option schemes

(i) The Thomas Miller Share Incentive Plan 

27.  Share-based payments (continued)

Employees subject to UK income tax are eligible to participate in this plan. The plan has tax advantages for employees who choose to hold shares in the

parent company. All the shares are held in trust on behalf of named employees. The plan trustees are Link Market Services Trustees Limited. The plan is

approved by the UK’s HM Revenue & Customs.

The company as a "qualifying entity" is exempt from providing full disclosures about share-based payments in accordance with section 26 of FRS 102. 

Equity-settled share option schemes

Other share-based plans

Commencing 1 January 2023 (for awards to be payable in 2024), the financial performance target applicable for all participants for 10% of their award,

regardless of individual participation level, is the achievement of Thomas Miller Group business plan profit targets for the relevant year, the business plan

targets having been agreed by the Board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. In addition, those participants at individual participation levels above 10% are

considered for a Club/Business award for the eligible percentage over 10%, subject to the business to which the participant is aligned achieving the agreed

budgeted Club/Business profit (for the TM Group) for the relevant financial year.

The group recognised total expenses in respect of share-based payments as follows:

(iii) The Thomas Miller Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP")

Expected dividends 

The Company operates an additional bonus scheme for senior employees which is dependent on meeting pre-determined financial targets for profitability

and on participants’ performance (as assessed through their annual performance rating) meeting expectations. Individual participation levels are expressed

as a percentage of base salary: 10%, 20%, 30% or 40%. Any shares awarded to employees under this scheme are restricted and cannot be sold for a

minimum of three years. The provision for the SLIP scheme is included within “accruals” (note 19). 

Weighted average share price

iv) 2023 Executive Directors’ Long-term Incentive Awards (‘LTIP’)

The Company witholds a percentage of all LTIP options awarded with this withheld element being used to make payment to the relevant tax authority to

settle the individuals expected taxation liability relating to this award.
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Capital management

Fair values of financial instruments

Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

Fixed asset investments 50,500 8,273 53,317 584 

Current asset listed investments - 2,407 - 2,465 

Current asset unlisted investments 2 2 2 2 

6,258 56,776 10,586 60,129 

7,739 63,533 4,314 58,427 

64,499 130,991 68,219 121,607 

Financial liabilities

22,905 125,396 33,598 112,078 

- 958 - 749 

- 842 - 724 

- 76 - (164)

- 1,213 - 1,286 

22,905 128,485 33,598 114,673 

Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL

Company Group Company Group

2023 2023 2022 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Difference between carrying amount and contractual amount at maturity:

Amount payable at maturity - 3,647 - 4,037 

Less:  Fair value of liabilities designated at FVTPL - (3,572) - (4,201)

- 75 - (164)

Tax liabilities

The group manages its capital to provide returns to its shareholders and manage other stakeholders. The group looks to produce financial returns from its

capital appropriate to the level of risk taken. The group retains capital in the business at a level appropriate to the financial strength of the business and the

conditions in the economic environment. The normal mechanisms for moderating the level of capital retained are through adjusting the levels of bonus or

dividend paid and also through considering whether investments or divestments are appropriate. Decisions on these matters will be reviewed and agreed

by the board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd.

Trade and other receivables

28.  Financial instruments

Trade and other payables

Cash and cash equivalents

Provisions

The group is also exposed to the above risks through the operation of a number of final salary pension schemes. The strategy for dealing with the

associated risks is managed by the board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd., through close liaison with trustee boards.

The group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Fair Value Through Profit and Loss ("FVPTL") - held as trading

Retirement benefit obligation

The group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from

financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from financial liabilities as they fall due. The most important components of this financial

risk are interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management objectives

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis for

recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1.
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2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current asset listed investments 2,407 - - 2,465 - - 

Forward contracts - 75 - - (164) - 

Accrued income - - 17,153 - - 18,823 

Credit risk

- The group’s remaining financial assets and liabilities are measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at fair value, and they can be grouped into Levels 1

to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair value of the financial assets included in the Level 3 category have been calculated by management and relate to the accrued income in respect of

TheJudge Limited.  The methodology is detailed in Note 1.16. 

- Payables and other financial liabilities.

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (unobservable inputs).

The group places limits on the level of cash balances held at any financial institution. Amounts due to the group are actively monitored by the credit control

department and board of the relevant group undertaking.

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due.  Key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:

The fair value of the following assets and liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts:

- Receivables;

The fair values of the group’s financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

The group applies IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments", which requires a forward-looking expected credit losses model approach for financial loss impairment.

28.  Financial instruments (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities included in the Level 2 category have been independently valued by HSBC based on observable market

conditions prevailing at the valuation date, including relevant foreign exchange rates.

Fair value measurements

- Cash and cash equivalents; and

- Retirement benefit obligations are valued by independent actuaries in accordance with IFRS.

- For those financial assets and liabilities that are cash or short-term trade receivables or payables, carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair

value.

- cash balances held with financial institutions.

- amounts due from insurance and other customers; and

- corporate bonds held within the group;
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Credit risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total

2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

£ Sterling 11,264 10,368 21,632 14,474 9,920 24,393 

US$ 6,379 19,156 25,535 4,738 21,719 26,457 

Other 1,983 7,626 9,609 323 8,957 9,279 

19,626 37,150 56,776 19,534 40,596 60,129 

Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total

2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

£ Sterling 3,287 50 3,337 6,147 1 6,148 

US$ 2,508 41 2,549 4,185 1 4,185 

Euro - 372 372 - 252 252 

5,795 463 6,258 10,332 254 10,586 

Currency risk

The interest rate risk profile of financial assets at 31 December, was as follows:

28.  Financial instruments (continued)

Trade receivables and accrued income are subject to impairment using the expected credit losses model. As permitted by IFRS 9, the group applies the

simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

Consequently, the IFRS 9 concept of a significant increase in credit risk is not applicable to the group’s expected credit losses. To assess expected credit

losses, balances are either assessed individually or grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics. The group is not involved with complex financial

instruments, it does not apply hedge accounting, nor has any history of material credit losses. The majority of the group revenue comprising of

management and incentive fees and investment management fees are not considered in the assessment because the payments received from the clubs

are subject to individual signed contracts / fee agreements with the management company and also through club board approval. Assessments are carried

out regularly across the group to review level of bad debt provisions and credit losses, to determine the impact of these on the group financial statements.

The level of credit losses across the rest of the group is low and immaterial.

The group is exposed to currency risk in respect of certain income streams denominated in currencies other than Sterling. The most significant currency to

which the group is exposed is the US Dollar. The group seeks to mitigate the risk through forward currency sales. This aims to reduce exposure to

unexpected changes in currency exchange rates. The impact of foreign exchange movements on US Dollar income transactions is offset to a large extent

by an equivalent impact on US Dollar expenses. 

Aged debtor reports are reviewed at each month end and a general bad debt provision is made for a minimum of 50% of all outstanding debts over 6

months old, after deduction of any debts specifically provided for.  There were no impairment factors such as significant write-offs present.

Interest rate risk exists from the group's exposure to adverse movements in interest rates in relation to cash balances, deposits and leases. The group

monitors the risk and reduces its exposure by considering choice of available funds. Management will take advice from investment specialists within the

group to act in line with the group's Investment Policy. The group is not materially exposed to movements in interest rates particularly as it does not have

any financial liabilities.
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Group Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

2023 2022 2023 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

5,757 11,605 7,476 7,287 

23,898 22,765 21,439 22,093 

29,655 34,370 28,915 29,380 

Company Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

2023 2022 2023 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

296 4,170 2,781 - 

Currency sensitivity

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Profit before tax decrease (197) (311)

Liquidity and cash flow risk

29.  Derivative financial instruments

2023 2022 2023 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets

Forward foreign currency contracts 64 - 16 - 

Liabilities

Forward foreign currency contracts 4 14 - 150 

US$

28.  Financial instruments (continued)

30.  Retirement benefit schemes

Other

Derivatives that are designated as "held for trading" and carried at fair value:

Forward foreign currency contracts are valued using quoted forward exchange rates and revalued at the rate available to cancel the contract, with any gains

and losses accounted for within the income statement.

US$

Thomas Miller & Co Limited operates a defined contribution retirement scheme for all qualifying employees within the United Kingdom. Depending on the

age of the participant, the subsidiary contributes a specified percentage of a participants' pay to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The

only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions. The total expense charged to the Income

Statement, for defined contribution schemes, in the year ended 31 December 2023 was £3.65 million (2022 - £3.83 million). 

The carrying amounts of the group's monetary assets and liabilities, held by entities with a functional currency other than Sterling, at the reporting date are

as follows:

Liquidity and cash flow risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due. The Investment Policy sets limits on cash balances to

ensure that funds are available to cover anticipated liabilities and unexpected levels of demand.

Defined contribution scheme

Current Non-current

The results of US dollar overseas subsidiaries when translated into Sterling using the average rate of exchange for the year have been compared with their

results following a 10% weakening of the currency average rate for the year has been assumed in the sensitivity analysis and the impact is shown in the

table below:
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Risks

Inflation risk

Regulatory risk

The schemes listed above typically expose the group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk and longevity risk. The majority of the risk

relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members is not re-insured.

Longevity risk

In future the scheme may have backdated claims or liabilities arising from future legislation, emerging practice or court judgements.

The group assumed a liability to pay annuities to those former partners of Thos R. Miller & Son who had retired prior to 1989. The total unfunded liability

has been calculated according to standard actuarial methods using an assumption of future investment returns of 4.5% (2022 - 4.8%). In addition, the

group has also assumed a liability to pay an annuity to a former employee of one of its Isle of Man subsidiaries; this has been calculated on the same basis

and using the same assumptions.

Actual inflation is higher and so benefit payments are higher than anticipated.

30.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

A full actuarial valuation for the Thomas Miller & Co Retirement Scheme ("TMC Scheme"), a funded final salary pension scheme, was performed at 31

December 2021 and was updated to 31 December 2022 by external actuaries. It showed that, on an IAS 19 Employee Benefits basis, the market value of

the Scheme’s assets was £156,286,000 (2022 - £153,831,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets represented 117% (2022 - 114%) of the

benefits that had accrued to members. Future service accrual under the Scheme ceased with effect from 1 October 2004. In addition, salary linkage was

removed for active members who remained employees with effect from 30 June 2011.

Investment returns

Investment strategy

Future investment returns are lower than anticipated and so additional contributions are required from the group to pay all the benefits promised.

The present value of the defined benefit plan liabilities is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and

after their employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Changes in asset values are not matched by changes in the scheme’s defined benefit obligation. For example, if equity values fall with no changes in

corporate bond yields, the net pension asset would reduce.

The group operates funded and unfunded defined benefit final salary pension schemes; the funded scheme has been set up under a trust that hold the

financial assets separately from those of the group. Valuations have been performed in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 "Employee Benefits"

as at each reporting date. The trustees of the pension fund are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the

scheme.  The trustees of the pension fund are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

Scheme liabilities have been calculated using a consistent projected unit valuation method and compared to the schemes' assets at the 31 December 2023

market value as shown below.

Defined benefit schemes

The group considers that were a pension asset to be realised in respect of the TMC scheme after all member benefits have been paid and after the scheme

is wound up, this would be fully recoverable by the group in line with the rules of that scheme. In the meantime, in the ordinary course of business the

Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind up the scheme or otherwise augment the benefits payable to members. Therefore, any pension surplus is

recognised in full under current accounting standards (IFRIC 14).
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2023 2022

4.50% 4.80%

2.90% 3.20%

Future inflation - RPI 3.00% 3.30%

Future inflation - CPI 2.30% 2.50%

2023 2022

UK scheme 

only

UK and 

Bermuda 

schemes 

only

Male

Females

Projections

25.0 25.3

26.8 27.1

26.2 26.5

28.1 28.4

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

156,286 153,831 

(133,433) (134,405)

22,853 19,426 

(1,213) (1,286)

21,640 18,140 

Females

Present value of funded obligations

Retiring in 20 years

CMI 2021

long-term rate

1.25% per annum

Future inflation-linked pension increases

S3NA_L Tables S3NA_L Tables

S3NA_L Tables S3NA_L Tables

The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 63:

Males

Present value of unfunded obligations

Males

Net surplus arising from defined benefit scheme obligations

At 31 December 2023, the group had an overall "net surplus" of £21.6 million in respect of its defined benefit schemes. This included an accounting surplus

of £22.9 million, arising in respect of the TMC Scheme.  The other schemes have an overall deficit of £1.3 million.

Fair value of assets

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the group's obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit schemes is as

follows:

30.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Discount rate

UK Scheme

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:

CMI 2022

long-term rate

1.25% per annum

Mortality

Retiring today

Females
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2023 2022

£'000 £'000

(1,000) (629)

Losses on settlements - - 

Administrative expenses - - 

(1,000) (629) 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

1,032 80,336 

(3,338) (394)

3,846 (68,886)

(354) 5,479 

1,186 16,535 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

135,691 204,753 

6,333 3,806 

(3,338) (394)

3,846 (68,886)

(354) 5,479 

- - 

(32) 75 

(7,501) (9,142)

134,646 135,691 

Actuarial losses / (gains) arising from experience adjustments

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the year were as follows:

Opening defined benefit obligation

Actuarial losses arising from experience adjustments

Benefits paid

Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions

Interest cost

Remeasurement (gains) / losses:

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

In October 2018, the High Court ruled on the Lloyds Bank Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ("GMP') inequalities case. In response to this, an allowance of

0.3% of the TMC Scheme’s pension liabilities (£0.5 million) was included within Thomas Miller & Co. Limited's 31 December 2018 year-end figures to make

provision for the estimated costs arising from the judgment. In May 2020, Lloyds Bank went back to court to seek clarification on whether there is also a

liability in respect of members that have transferred out of their scheme. In November 2020, the High Court ruled that past transfer values from 1990 now

have to be equalised for GMP inequalities.  A cost has not been included a cost on materiality grounds.

Closing defined benefit obligation

The amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit obligations are as follows:

The net interest expense has been included within finance costs (see note 8). The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in the

statement of comprehensive income.  

30.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Actuarial (gains) arising from changes in demographic assumptions

The losses on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

Actuarial (gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit (surplus) / liability

Exchange differences on foreign arrangements

Liabilities extinguished on settlements
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2023 2022

£'000 £'000

153,831 235,042 

7,335 4,433 

(1,032) (80,337)

3,653 3,835 

(7,501) (9,142)

156,286 153,831 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Liability driven investments 102,046 116,090 

Equities - 8,357 

Bonds - - 

Other growth assets:

- absolute return funds 53,593 20,117 

- diversified growth funds - 7,693 

- emerging market multi-asset funds - - 

Cash 645 1,571 

Insurance policies 2 3 

156,286 153,831 

Sensitivity analysis of the principal assumptions used to measure scheme liabilities

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase by 0.5% Decrease by 6%

Decrease by 0.5% Increase by 6%

Rate of inflation Increase by 0.5% Increase by 2%

Decrease by 0.5% Decrease by 2%

Rate of mortality Increase life expectancy by 1 year Increase by 4%

The holding of these investments is part of an overall hedging strategy. The current strategy aims to hedge 100% of the interest rate risk and approximately

100% of the inflation rate risk against the Scheme's technical provisions.  This strategy is subject to a regular review.

Remeasurement gain:

The scheme does not invest directly in financial securities issued by the company or in property or other assets used by the company.

Assets distributed on settlements

Closing fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets

The above sensitivities relate to the main retirement benefit scheme operated by the group, The Thomas Miller & Co. Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme.

The "impact on scheme liabilities" sensitivities have been calculated to show the movement in the defined benefit obligation in isolation, and assuming no

other changes in market conditions at the accounting date. This is unlikely in practice - for example, a change in the rate of inflation is unlikely to occur

without any movement in the value of assets held by the Scheme. The sensitivities do not take into account any potential impact of the change in

assumptions on the assets of this scheme, which may have a compensating sensitivity.

Benefits paid

The major categories and fair values of plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category are as follows:

The scheme's assets are invested in a diversified range of assets as highlighted above, with the majority of these quoted in an active market. These assets

include liability driven investments which aim to match the benefits to be paid to Scheme members from the Scheme and therefore remove the investment

and inflation risk in relation to those liabilities.

The (deficit) / return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

Administrative expenses

Contributions by employer

30.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Movements In the fair value of plan assets in the year were as follows:

Interest income

Exchange differences on foreign arrangements

Opening fair value of plan assets
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£'000

- 

158 

158 

31.  Related party transactions

32.  Consolidated cash flow statement - reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Group operating profit 13,133 15,798 

Depreciation, amortisation and goodwill impairment 10,096 10,686 

Profit/(Loss) on sale of fixed assets 52 84 

(Decrease) in provisions 119 (1,198)

Adjustment for pension funding (see below) (3,653) (3,835)

Shares awarded to employees under various bonus schemes 1,472 1,816 

Equity settled share option charge 724 137 

21,943 23,488 

(Increase) / decrease in debtors (1,762) (9,047)

Increase / (decrease) in creditors 9,126 8,277 

29,307 22,718 

Corporation tax paid (2,572) (5,180)

Interest paid (1,110) (653)

25,625 16,885 

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Non client cash:

Liquidity funds 3,969 6,728 

Other bank accounts 17,598 16,996 

Client cash 35,209 36,405 

56,776 60,129 

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not

disclosed in this note.

Net cash from operating activities

The client cash is restricted in nature as it is held on behalf of third party clients, including insurance carriers. A corresponding balance is included within

trade creditors.

Cash at bank and in hand is broken down as follows:

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme

30.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Cash generated by operations

The adjustment for pension funding represents the net of current service costs, the gains on curtailment and contributions paid.

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Future contributions 

The group is expected to make the following contributions to the various defined benefit pension schemes during the year to 31 December 2023:

Contributions to be

made in the year 

Annuities payable to former partners and employees

The remuneration of directors is disclosed in note 5. Certain employees of the group are members of one defined benefit scheme operated by the group, of

which details are given in note 30.
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33.  Commitments

Exercise date

Currency 

sold

Amount Currency 

bought

Contract rate

30-Dec-2024 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2108          

30-Sep-2024 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2090          

30-Dec-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2976          

30-Sep-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2953          

28-Jun-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2927          

28-Mar-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2899          

28-Nov-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2231          

30-Sep-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2276          

30-Jun-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2271          

31-Mar-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2269          

30-Dec-2024 USD 20,000         GBP 1.2264          

30-Sep-2024 USD 20,000         GBP 1.2247          

28-Jun-2024 USD 30,000         GBP 1.2245          

28-Mar-2024 USD 30,000         GBP 1.2241          

03-Jan-2024 USD 3,000,000    GBP 1.2487          

30-Dec-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2155          

30-Sep-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2157          

30-Jun-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2160          

31-Mar-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2160          

30-Dec-2024 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2155          

30-Sep-2024 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2150          

28-Jun-2024 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2139          

28-Mar-2024 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2119          

30-Jun-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2732          

31-Mar-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2756          

30-Dec-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2781          

30-Jun-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2842          

30-Dec-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2912          

28-Jun-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2975          

30-Jun-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2393          

31-Mar-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2404          

30-Dec-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2414          

30-Jun-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2446          

30-Dec-2024 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2475          

28-Jun-2024

At 31 December 2023, the group had entered into forward contracts to hedge anticipated currency receipts in two subsidiary companies. The forward

contracts are summarised below:

The impact of fair value movements on open forward contracts during 2023 was a gain of £76,000 (2022 - £164,000 loss). The fair value of open forward

contracts at 31 December 2023 is shown in note 29.

56



THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

34.  Litigation 

The group is subject to certain claims and litigation arising in the normal course of its mutual management business and other activities. Damages are

sought in these claims and litigation. However, on the basis of current information and legal advice, the company does not expect that these claims and

litigation will have a material impact on the financial position of the group, however, the company has made provisions net of any insurance recoveries

against such liabilities where they deem appropriate.

As at the 10th January 2024, Thomas Miller Specialty Underwriting Agency Limited (TMSUAL) sold the business comprising the assets of Occupational

Pensions Defence Union, Thomas Miller Professions, Thomas Miller Specialty Aviation, Thomas Miller Specialty Construction and additional run-off

business to Building LifePlans Limited. Net liabilities of £7.748m were transferred out. 

The Occupational Pensions Defence Limited and Thomas Miller Professions Limited, dormant subsidiaries of TMSUAL have been sold for £1 each to

Thomas Miller (UK) Holdings Company Limited on 21st February 2024 as part of an internal reorganisation of the group of companies owned ultimately by

Thomas Miller Holdings Limited. Net Assets of £5,000 for Thomas Miller Professions Limited and £1,000 for Occupational Pensions Defence Limited will be

transferred out of TMSUAL.

There are no financial effects of this transaction in the financial year ending 31 December 2023. The operating results and assets and liabilities of the

acquired partnership will be consolidated from 16 January 2024.

UK Defined Pension Scheme Buy-In: After the balance sheet date, the pension scheme invested in a bulk annuity with an insurer. Following the transaction

most financial and demographic risks present in the scheme’s liabilities are being managed through the policy. As a result of the transaction, the £23m

surplus at the balance sheet date has reduced to £7m, with the movement to be recognised in the OCI. (Note 30)

On 5th October 2023, the transfer of the business of Thomas Miller Specialty Marine from TMSUAL to Thomas Miller P&I Limited was approved. The

transfer has yet to taken place. As at 31 December 

In February 2024, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2022 - 12.5p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 4

March 2024, paid in March 2024. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 25.5p per share (2022 - 24.0p) will be paid to shareholders on the

register on 31 May 2024. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.62 million (2022 - £2.59 million). This dividend, together with the second interim

dividend, has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

35.  Post balance sheet events

On 16 January 2024 Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. acquired 100% of the share capital in Condon Claims Management (CCM), a marine claims handling/loss

adjusting business in the UK and the US for a total consideration of £6.5 million, based on an initial consideration and the expected value of the deferred

and contingent consideration.
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